THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas of Beaufort County, South Carolina
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-199666

Elizabeth O'Meara,..... Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., Southern Assisted Living, LLC, and Sonia S. King,
.....Defendants,

Of whom Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. and Southern Assisted Living, LLC
.....are the Appellants.

Yvonne Carrie Pruett,..... Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., Southern Assisted Living, LLC, and Sonia S. King,
.....Defendants,

Of whom Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. and Southern Assisted Living, LLC,
.....are the Appellants.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Residency Agreements signed on behalf of each Respondent involve interstate commerce and are governed by the Federal Arbitration Act?
- II. Whether Respondents Elizabeth O’Meara and Janet Sue Scheerle, who are beneficiaries under the Residency Agreements, should be equitably estopped from refusing to comply with the terms of their agreements?
- III. Whether the Respondents’ claim of unconscionability are not yet ripe and should first be decided by an arbiter, and not a Court?
- IV. Whether the Residency Agreements are not unconscionable; and, in the alternative, whether the Court should enforce arbitration and sever any provisions it finds unconscionable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These consolidated appeals seek to enforce three similar arbitration clauses found in the admission agreements to an assisted-living community. The Respondents—Elizabeth O’Meara, Yvonne Carrie Pruett, and Janet Sue Scheerle—

are former residents of the Carolina House. They each filed separate suits against the Appellants Southern Assisted Living d/b/a Carolina House of Hilton Head and Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. (collectively "Appellants"). They also sued Sonia King, a former employee of the Carolina House, but it does not appear that she has appeared in any of the actions.¹ Respondent O'Meara served her Amended Complaint on the Appellants on May 4, 2011; Respondent Pruett served a Complaint on May 6, 2011 and an Amended Complaint on September 24, 2012; and Respondent Scheerle served a Complaint on July 10, 2011 and an Amended Complaint on June 26, 2012. (R. pp. 8-34; 156-87; 316-46). The Respondents alleged that Ms. King verbally and physically assaulted them. They alleged causes of action for negligence, intentional infliction of emotional distress, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and assault and battery. Id. Respondent Pruett also brought a wrongful death and survival action, alleging Ms. King's actions led to her death on May 30, 2012.

In each case, Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, arguing that an arbitration clause in the Respondent's Residency Agreement governed this dispute. (R. pp. 35-70; 188-225; 347-71). The Motions were filed on the following dates: June 3, 2011 in the O'Meara action; June 6, 2011 in the Pruett action; and August 10, 2011 in the Scheerle action. Id. Respondents O'Meara and Pruett served Memoranda in Opposition on June 21, 2011, and the Appellants

¹ Ms. King was not acting for the benefit of the Appellants; therefore, she is not being defended or indemnified by the Appellants.

served a Memorandum in Support on June 22, 2011. [R. pp. 71-86; 226-38; 87-140; 239-95].

In the O'Meara and Pruett actions, a hearing was held on June 14, 2011 before the Honorable Carmen Tevis Mullen. The Appellants received a written copy of the Orders Denying the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on August 23, 2011. (R. pp. 2-7; 151-55). Appellants served a Motion to Reconsider on September 2, 2011 in the O'Meara action and September 6, 2011 in the Pruett action. (R. pp. 141-48; 296-303). The lower court denied the Motions to Reconsider, and Appellants received written notice of the lower court's decisions on September 22, 2011 (R. pp. 1; 149-50). On that same day, September 22, 2011, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal in the O'Meara and Pruett actions.

As to the Scheerle action, a hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration was held on October 19, 2011. The lower court denied the Motion, and the Appellants received written notice of the decision on November 3, 2011. (R. pp. 311-15). On November 11, 2011, Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 372-76).

The Motion to Reconsider was not immediately placed on the lower court's motion roster, and the case languished for almost ten months. In the meantime, Respondent Scheerle filed an Amended Summons and Complaint on June 26, 2012, to which the Appellants responded on June 28, 2012 with a renewed Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 330-46; 377-401). On September 4, 2012, a hearing was held on the motions. The Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on September 7, 2012, before

receiving an Order from the lower court that was filed on September 18, 2012.² (R. pp. 311-15).

Because of issues concerning difficulty securing a transcript for these hearings, the parties agreed to move forward with these appeals without the transcripts below. On October 3, 2012, the Respondents filed a Motion to Consolidate all three appeals, which this Court granted on January 16, 2013.

FACTS

The three cases involve three separate but virtually identical arbitration agreements. Each is discussed below.

A. *The Yvonne Carrie Pruett Arbitration Agreement.*

On March 31, 2009, Respondent Pruett entered into a Residency Agreement with Appellant Southern Assisted Living d/b/a Carolina House of Hilton Head, an assisted-living facility owned and controlled by Appellant Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. Respondent's husband, Sam Pruett, signed the Agreement as "Responsible Party." (R. p. 210). Mr. Pruett also signed a "Responsible Party Agreement" whereby he agreed to provide necessary assistance and payments on behalf of Respondent. (R. p. 213).

The arbitration clause states as follows:

A. **ARBITRATION PROVISION**

1. Any and all claims or controversies arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Resident's stay at the Company, excluding any action for eviction, and including disputes regarding the interpretation of this Agreement, whether arising out of State or

² The Order was styled "Order Denying Defendants, Brookdale Senior Living, Inc. and Southern Assisted Living, LLC d/b/a Carolina House of Hilton Head's Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration on Amended Complaint."

Federal Law, whether existing or arising in the future, whether for statutory, compensatory or punitive damages and whether sounding in breach of contract, tort or breach of statutory duties, irrespective of the basis for the duty or the legal theories upon which the claim is asserted, shall be submitted to binding arbitration, as provided below, and shall not be filed in a court of law. **The parties to this Agreement further understand that a jury will not decide their case.** The Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the procedure, except if inconsistent with this Arbitration Provision or expressly stated otherwise in this Agreement. Further, nothing in this Agreement is to be construed to contradict any applicable South Carolina statutory grievance or mediation procedure. Any party who demands arbitration must do so for all claims or controversies that are known, or reasonably should have been known, by the date of the demand for arbitration, and if learned of during the course of the arbitration proceedings shall amend the claims or controversies to reflect the same. All current damages and reasonably foreseeable damages arising out of such claims or controversies shall also be incorporated into the initial demand or amendment thereto.

(R. p. 202) (emphasis in original). Underneath this clause are subsections regarding arbitration procedures. (R. pp. 202-05). As responsible party, Mr. Pruett initialed underneath each arbitration section acknowledging “as having read and understood the provisions [relating to arbitration].” (R. p. 205).

A separate part of the Agreement contained a section titled, “**BENEFITS OF ARBITRATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY PROVISION**,” which outlines the benefits of arbitration that flow to both resident and facility. The section informs the resident that the arbitration provision allows the facility to provide services at an affordable rate, while at the same time providing a quick resolution for elderly residents who may have a limited life expectancy. The section is also designed to give a resident a meaningful choice about whether to accept arbitration, as it informs the resident or her responsible party “that other assisted living companies’ Agreements may not contain an arbitration provision, or limitations of liability

provision.” (R. p. 206) (emphasis in original). Further, the section contains an acknowledgment in bold font that “[t]he undersigned acknowledges that he or she has been encouraged to discuss this Agreement with an Attorney.” (R. p. 206) (bold in original).

The arbitration provision is not buried inconspicuously in the Agreement, as it takes up five pages (more than 25%) of the 19-page Agreement. The front page of the Agreement states that “**THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION.**” and further recommends that “**you consult your legal counsel to ensure proper understanding of this Agreement before signing.**” (R. p. 191) (bold in original).

B. The Elizabeth O’Meara Arbitration Agreement.

On September 30, 2008, Respondent O’Meara entered into the same Residency Agreement that Respondent Pruett entered. Ms. O’Meara’s signature appears on the O’Meara Agreement, and her daughter, Julie Stanton, signed as “Responsible Party.” (R. p. 56). Like Sam Pruett, Ms. Stanton also signed a “Responsible Party Agreement” whereby she agreed to provide necessary assistance and payments on behalf of Ms. O’Meara.

The O’Meara Agreement appears identical to the Pruett Agreement. The arbitration clause is the same, and the same encouragement to seek legal counsel is found in the O’Meara Agreement. Ms. Stanton likewise initialed under the provisions, acknowledging “as having read and understood the provisions [relating to arbitration].” (R. p. 51).

C. *The Janet Sue Scheerle Arbitration Agreement.*

Respondent Scheerle entered her agreement with Appellant Southern Assisted Living, Inc. on July 10, 2010. Julie Jones, Ms. Scheerle's daughter, signed the agreement as "Resident/Legal Representative." (R. p. 364). Ms. Jones also signed a "Statement of Financial Responsibility," wherein she agreed to assist in Ms. Scheerle's care as a "legally responsible person." (R. p. 365). In that statement, she "acknowledge[d] that [she has] received and reviewed a copy of the Residency Agreement, and [has] had an opportunity to ask questions."

Although similar, the Scheerle Agreement is not identical to the O'Meara and Pruett Agreements. The arbitration clause itself is virtually identical, with a few cosmetic differences in phrasing and comma placement, but it has one substantive distinction. Rather than providing that the "Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the procedure," the clause states that the "South Carolina Revised Code concerning arbitration shall govern the procedure[.]" (R. p. 356). Further, written discovery is governed by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure rather than the federal rules. (R. p. 357).

As to the rest of the Scheerle Agreement, it contains no cover page, but the header on the first page states, "THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION." (R. p. 350). The Agreement also contains "Benefits of Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provisions" that has a sentence encouraging the signing parties "**to discuss this Agreement with an attorney.**" (R. p. 359) (emphasis in original). Above the signature block is another recommendation that "**you consult with legal counsel**

to ensure understanding of this Agreement before signing.” (R. p. 362) (emphasis in original).

D. The Interstate Character of the Residency Agreements.

The Residency Agreements are interstate in character because many of the goods and services delivered under the agreements come from out of state. They specify the basic services each resident will receive from the facility, including daily meals, amenities, furnishing, housing, and the ability to further agree to receive medical services from third parties. Specifically, the Agreements provide that residents will receive three meals daily. That food is supplied by Sysco Corporation of Texas. (R. pp. 146-47, ¶4; 300-01, ¶4; 368-69, ¶4). Direct Supply of Wisconsin provides the medical supplies that the residents receive pursuant to the Agreement. Id.

The Agreements also affect interstate commerce because they are between parties residing in two different states. The Respondents are South Carolina residents, while Southern Assisted Living is a North Carolina corporation. The parent company, Brookdale Senior Living, is a Delaware corporation with its headquarters in Tennessee and relevant corporate offices in Wisconsin, Illinois, and Florida. It advertises nationally.

The facility and the Agreements are also involved in interstate commerce in other ways. When a resident pays for the goods, services, and housing provided under the Agreements, a check is written and sent to a Wells Fargo bank in Texas, and the funds are deposited into accounts owned by Brookdale Senior Living, an out-of-state corporation. (R. pp. 146-47, ¶5; 368-69, ¶5; 368-69, ¶7). The facility

also receives and admits out-of-state residents, including residents from Connecticut, Florida, and New York. Id.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review.” New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders, 379 S.C. 620, 625, 667 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2008). “Nevertheless, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.” Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS IN THE RESIDENCY AGREEMENTS ARE VALID AND ENFORCEABLE AGREEMENTS UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT BECAUSE THE RESIDENCY AGREEMENTS INVOLVE INTERSTATE COMMERCE.

“South Carolina law generally favors arbitration.” Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Services, Inc., 361 S.C. 544, 550, 606 S.E.2d 752, 755 (2005). “Any doubts regarding the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” Zabrinsky v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). “Unless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.” Id. “A motion to compel arbitration . . . should only be denied where the [arbitration] clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute.” Id.

A. The Scope of the Federal Arbitration Act.

Under the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), parties may enter pre-injury agreements and arbitrate personal-injury claims. When the FAA governs a dispute, it preempts conflicting state law. Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265, 269 (1995); Soil Remediation Co. v. Nu-Way Environmental, Inc., 323 S.C. 454, 459, 476 S.E.2d 149, 152 (1996).³

Section 2 of the FAA states that a “contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. “To ascertain whether a transaction involves interstate commerce within the meaning of the FAA, the court must examine the agreement, the complaint, and the surrounding facts.” Zabrinsky v. Bright Acres Associates, 346 S.C. 580, 594, 553 S.E.2d 110, 117 (2001).

The basic purpose of the FAA “is to overcome courts’ refusal to enforce agreements to arbitrate.” Allied-Bruce, 513 U.S. at 270. Because the FAA was intended to enforce arbitration agreements and put them on “the same footing as other contracts,” Congress intended the FAA to have a broad scope and for courts to interpret it liberally. Id. at 270, 275. The language of the FAA evidences a strong

³ Although the Scheerle Agreement states that the “South Carolina Revised code concerning arbitration shall govern the procedure,” the FAA still preempts the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act, S.C. Code §§ 15-48-10 *et seq.*, “to the extent [state law] would have invalidated the arbitration agreement.” Munoz v. Green Tree Financial Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 539 n.2, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 n.2 (2001). In Soil Remediation, the Court held that the FAA preempted the South Carolina Act despite the agreement stating, “THIS SUBCONTRACT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 15-48-10, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA (1976).” 323 S.C. at 457, 476 S.E.2d at 150.

federal policy favoring arbitration. Mastrobouno v. Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc., 514 U.S. 52, 62 (1995).

Prior to the Supreme Court's decision in Allied-Bruce, many courts refused to apply the FAA to contracts where the parties did not contemplate an interstate transaction, or where the interstate transaction was "too slight." 513 U.S. at 269. In Allied-Bruce, a homeowner had signed a termite-prevention contract containing an arbitration clause. The defendant was a multistate company that used termite-treating and house-repairing materials that came from out of state. The Supreme Court of Alabama upheld a denial of a motion to compel arbitration, finding that, although there was an interstate connection, the connection between the termite contract and interstate commerce was too slight. The Alabama court had held that the FAA applies only if the parties "contemplated substantial interstate activity." Id. at 269.

The United States Supreme Court rejected this narrow interpretation. It held that the FAA applies to transactions that "in fact" involve interstate commerce, "even if the parties did not contemplate an interstate commerce connection." Id. at 281. The FAA's phrase "involving commerce" evidenced "an intent to exercise Congress' commerce power to the full." Id. at 277. There is no requirement that the transaction "substantially" involve interstate commerce, as argued by the Respondent in her Memorandum in Opposition filed in the lower court. (R. p. 73).

Allied-Bruce is significant because since that opinion a decided majority of published opinions in South Carolina have upheld the application of the FAA. Significantly, in Munoz v. Green Tree Financial Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 539 n.3, 542

S.E.2d 360, 363 n.3 (2001), the Court overruled its prior precedent to the extent it considered whether the parties contemplated interstate commerce as a factor in applying the FAA. In that case, the Munoz family signed an installment contract and security agreement with the builder to finance \$15,000 in home improvements. Both the Munoz family and the builder were from South Carolina. However, the builder assigned the agreement to a creditor on the same day. The creditor, a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in Minnesota, had prepared the agreement in Minnesota and forwarded it to the builder in South Carolina. The loan proceeds were disbursed from a bank in Minnesota. “Although the Munozes may not have contemplated an interstate transaction, *their contractual relationship with Creditor* in fact involves interstate commerce and therefore the FAA applies.” Id. at 539, 542 S.E.2d at 364 (emphasis added).

In Zabrinsky v. Bright Acres Associates, the Court cited Allied-Bruce and held that the FAA applied to a partnership dispute involving a South Carolina partnership selling and developing land located entirely in South Carolina. 346 S.C. at 595, 553 S.E.2d at 117-18. Although developing South Carolina land is typically an intrastate activity, “the transaction involved interstate commerce as contemplated by the FAA because the partnership utilized out-of-state materials, contractors, and investors.” Id.; see also Soil Remediation, 323 S.C. at 461, 476 S.E.2d at 153 (holding contract to remove water and sludge materials from a South Carolina property involved interstate commerce because one party subcontracted with a third-party who would remove the materials to a North Carolina facility).

B. Assisted Living and Nursing Home Admission Agreements Typically Involve Interstate Commerce.

Much like the agreements at issue in Allied-Bruce, Zabrinsky, and Soil Remediation, admission agreements to assisted-living facilities or nursing homes typically involve interstate commerce because the facilities usually fulfill their contractual duties by providing supplies and goods from out-of state. See Pickering v. Urbantus, LLC, 827 F. Supp.2d 1010 (S.D. Iowa 2011); Miller v. Cotter, 863 N.E.2d 537 (Mass. 2007); Briarcliff Nursing Home v. Turcotte, 894 So.2d 661, 667 (Ala. 2004).

In McCutcheon v. THI of S.C. at Charleston, LLC, 2011 WL 6318575 at *5 (D.S.C., Dec. 15, 2011), the District Court of South Carolina (Judge Norton) granted a motion to compel arbitration under the FAA and found “the type of nursing home care involved here affects interstate commerce.” The court stressed that the home received food from Sysco Corporation of Texas—the same company supplying food to Appellants in this case—and bought supplies from manufacturers in several other states. Id. “The supplies must be shipped across state lines to reach [the] facility.” Id. Because of this, the FAA applied to the admission agreement.

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