RECEIVED

JUN 03 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas
Carmen Tevis Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Consolidated Appellate Case No. 2011-199666

Elizabeth O'Meara,.....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., and Southern Assisted Living, LLC,.....Appellants,

and

Sonia S. King,.....Defendant.

Yvonne Carrie Pruett,.....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., and Southern Assisted Living, LLC,.....Appellants,

and

Sonia S. King,.....Defendant.

Janet Sue Scheerle,.....Respondent,

v.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., and Southern Assisted Living, LLC,.....Appellants,

and

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

from Alzheimer's Disease and dementia in a residential care facility squarely satisfies the *Chassereau* case.

The reasoning behind our courts' refusal to force parties to arbitrate claims arising out of illegal and outrageous conduct is based upon the logic that a party could not have foreseen such conduct when they entered into the arbitration agreement. A reasonable person entering into an assisted living facility, or a family member making the difficult decision to move a loved one to an assisted living facility, would not reasonably contemplate that the result would be physical and verbal abuse and no reasonable or fair minded person would knowingly agree to arbitrate claims arising from illegal and outrageous acts where their rights are severely and unfairly limited. Our courts have refused to enforce arbitration provisions based upon much less egregious conduct than is present in these cases.

"[A]rbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit." *Partain v. Upstate Automotive Group*, 386 S.C. 488, 494, 689 S.E.2d 602, 605 (2010) (per curiam). In *Partain*, the plaintiff-purchaser of a car alleged the defendant-seller committed a bait-and-switch by having the plaintiff test drive one car and then actually selling him a different car. 386 S.C. at 490, 689 S.E.2d at 603. The Supreme Court held the case was controlled by the illegal and outrageous acts exception based on its determination that the plaintiff "cannot be held to have contemplated that, in signing the arbitration clause, he was agreeing to arbitrate claims arising from allegedly fraudulent conduct." 386 S.C. at 494, 689 S.E.2d at 605.

In *Chassereau*, the plaintiff purchased an above-ground pool from the defendants and stopped paying after the defendants refused to fix the pool. 373 S.C. at 170, 644 S.E.2d at 719. Two documents executed during the sale of the pool contained arbitration provisions. *Id.* The defendants' employees began "systematically harassing" the plaintiff by repeatedly calling her at work, disclosing private information to her family, friends, and coworkers, and making false and defamatory statements about the plaintiff. *Id.* The plaintiff brought suit for defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and unlawful communication. *Id.* The court on appeal refused to enforce the arbitration provisions and the Supreme Court affirmed. In affirming, the Supreme Court cited recent precedent refusing to enforce an arbitration agreement "to illegal or outrageous acts that no reasonable person would have foreseen at the time the parties executed the agreement to arbitrate." 373 S.C. at 172, 644 S.E.2d at 720 (citing *Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 644 S.E.2d 705 (2007)). The Court stated "[a]lthough we are constrained to resolve all doubts in favor of arbitration, this is not an absolute truism intended to replace careful judicial analysis." 373 S.C. at 172, 644 S.E.2d at 720. Further, ". . . South Carolina courts will not interpret arbitration clauses to apply to such acts which are outrageous and unforeseen."¹² *Id.*

¹² Since 2005, our courts have issued six opinions refusing to force parties to arbitrate actions arising out of outrageous and illegal acts. See *Partain*, 386 S.C. 488, 689 S.E.2d 602; *Chassereau*, 373 S.C. 168, 644, S.E.2d 718 (finding defendants' conduct in making harassing and intimidating phone calls to plaintiff's work place and leaving false and defamatory messages was not subject to arbitration); *Aiken*, 373 S.C. 144, 644 S.E.2d 705; *Hatcher v. Edward D. Jones & Co., L.P.*, 379 S.C. 549, 666 S.E.2d 294 (Ct. App. 2008); *Simpson v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C.*, 367 S.C. 184, 191, 623 S.E.2d 877, 881 (Ct. App. 2005) (finding defendant's employees' conduct in using plaintiff's personal information to illegally procure loans and embezzle funds was not subject to arbitration because it was unbelievable that plaintiff "could have foreseen the future tortious conduct of [the defendant]'s employees at the time she entered into the loan agreements"); *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 634, 611 S.E.2d 305, 308 (Ct.

This Court should likewise refuse to force the Respondents to arbitrate their claims against Appellants. No reasonable person entrusting themselves or their loved one to an assisted living, health care facility would agree to arbitrate claims arising from severe physical and mental abuse. Further, no reasonable person would agree to arbitrate such claims on the terms present in this Arbitration and Limited Liability Provision, including limitations on meaningful discovery, application of collateral sources of recovery, an arbitrary limit of \$250,000 in pain and suffering, and denial of punitive damages, no matter how egregious Appellants' conduct. Abuse, especially of our most vulnerable citizens, is precisely the illegal and outrageous conduct that punitive damages are designed to redress, both to compensate and to punish and set an example to prevent future abuse.

IV. APPELLANTS DID NOT RAISE EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL BELOW AND THE ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED ON APPEAL

Appellants, for the first time on appeal, attempt to argue equitable estoppel as to Respondents O'Meara and Scheerle. This Court should decline to address this issue because Appellants failed to preserve the issue for review on appeal. Further, Appellants' argument is without merit because, *inter alia*, the Respondents do not assert a breach of contract claim seeking to enforce the Residency Agreement and did not receive a benefit from the Residency Agreement.

Appellants cannot raise equitable estoppel for the first time on appeal. "At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial

App. 2005) (finding defendants' conduct in making harassing and intimidating phone calls to plaintiff's work place and leaving false and defamatory messages was "tortious behavior that the parties . . . could not have reasonably foreseen and for which we seriously doubt they intended to provide a limited means of redress").

judge.” *Herron*, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642. “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Imposing such a requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Appellants did not raise this issue to the court below as to either Mrs. O’Meara or Mrs. Scheerle and cannot do so for the first time on appeal.

As to Mrs. O’Meara, Appellants argued in their Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration only that the authority of Julie Stanton to sign the Residency Agreement on behalf of her mother should be decided by an arbitrator. (R. pp. 94-95, Memo. in Support of Mot. to Dismiss & Compel Arbitration). The circuit court ruled on that issue, holding that the trial court was the proper forum to decide the issue. (R. p. 5). Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider argued only that “such issues must be decided by an arbiter not a court.” (R. p. 143, O’Meara Mot. to Reconsider). Thus, equitable estoppel was never raised or ruled upon.

Appellants also failed to raise this issue as to Mrs. Scheerle. The circuit court ruled that Julie Jones did not have authority to bind her mother to arbitration and the trial court was the proper forum for that determination. (R. pp. 314-15). Appellants argued in their Motion to Reconsider only that the issue should be decided by an arbitrator. (R. p. 373, Scheerle Mot. to Reconsider or, to Alter or Amend Judgment). Therefore, again, Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument was not preserved because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the circuit court.

The circuit court correctly held that the trial court is the proper forum to determine whether Julie Jones and Julie Stanton had the authority to bind their mothers to

the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision in the Residency Agreement. Appellants incorrectly assert that the Respondents argued Ms. Jones and Ms. Stanton lacked authority to bind their mothers to the entire Residency Agreement. In fact, the Respondents argued only that neither woman had the authority to bind their mother to arbitration. (R. pp. 71, 75, O’Meara Memo. in Opp. to Defs. Mot. to Dismiss & Compel Arbitration; R. pp. 3, 5, 304, 307-08, 312, 314-15, O’Meara and Scheerle Orders Denying Defs. Mot. to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration). “[T]he determination regarding whether a valid arbitration agreement existed [i]s a ‘gateway matter’ that the circuit court could properly consider.” *Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 116, 126, 713 S.E.2d 799, 804 (Ct. App. 2011). Furthermore, Appellants did not dispute or appeal the lower court’s findings that Julie Stanton and Julie Jones lacked the authority to bind their respective mothers, Mrs. O’Meara and Mrs. Scheerle, to the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision. *Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010) (“An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.”). Accordingly, the circuit court’s ruling on this issue was correct and must be upheld.

If this Court were to consider Appellants’ unpreserved argument based upon the concepts of equitable estoppel/third party beneficiary, the argument is wholly without merit. The doctrine of equitable estoppel rests on a general principle of fairness which prevents one party, with knowledge of the situation, from misleading the other by words or conduct in such a way that the other party is prejudiced.

To establish estoppel, the party claiming estoppel must prove that he or she (1) lacked knowledge and means of obtaining knowledge of the truth of the facts in question; and (2) relied upon the conduct of the party to be estopped. The party claiming estoppel must also establish that the party to

be estopped (1) acted in a way amounting to a false representation or concealment of material facts; (2) intended such conduct be acted upon by the other party; and (3) possessed knowledge, either actual or constructive, of the true facts.

Kelly v. Logan, Jolley, & Smith, LLP, 383 S.C. 626, 632, 682 S.E.2d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2009) (internal citation omitted).

Appellants cannot possibly claim the Respondents, as victims of Appellants' abuse, falsely represented or concealed anything while possessing knowledge of the true facts. If anything, Appellants should be estopped from arguing the enforceability of the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision where Appellants drafted the unconscionable provision and had reason to know they were placing these Respondents in harm's way.

The cases cited by Appellants are inapplicable because all are based on the premise that is absent in the matter before this Court: that a plaintiff should not be able to invoke certain contract provisions while avoiding others. Furthermore, the cases cited by Appellants do not involve claims of abuse, do not speak to the unconscionability of the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision, and do not include public policy considerations that defeat enforceability.¹³ Unlike the cases cited by Appellants, these Respondents do not seek to enforce the Residency Agreement and the Court has already ruled that the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision is unenforceable for

¹³ Appellants' citation to the unpublished opinion *THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, 2011 WL 4089435 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011) violates the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR, states "unpublished orders have *no precedential value and should not be cited* except in proceedings in which they are directly involved." (emphasis added). Accordingly, this Court should not consider the *THI* opinion and should disregard Appellants' argument related to the unpublished opinion. Should the Court consider this unpublished opinion, it is distinguishable because, in that case, plaintiff sued on the contract, did not dispute that she received a benefit, did not raise unconscionability or public policy concerns, and the arbitration provision did not contain offensive language depriving plaintiff of basic procedural rights.

numerous reasons independent of whether or not Julie Jones and Julie Stanton had authority to bind Mrs. O'Meara and Mrs. Scheerle to the Provision. A party is not estopped from challenging a contract provision as unconscionable, unenforceable under state law, or against public policy simply because the contract is signed by the party.

Appellants first cite to *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 733 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2012) as support for prohibiting Mrs. O'Meara and Mrs. Scheerle from challenging the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision. *Pearson*, however, did not involve contracts that were grossly unconscionable and contrary to public policy, unenforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act, and the case did not include the drafter's illegal and outrageous abusive conduct.

Pearson further does not apply to the facts of these cases or the causes of action asserted by the Respondents. In *Pearson*, a medical professional placement corporation and a hospital entered into a contract in which the corporation agreed to place temporary physicians at the hospital. 400 S.C. at 285, 733 S.E.2d at 599. The plaintiff doctor entered into a contract with the medical professional placement corporation and was temporarily placed at the hospital. 400 S.C. at 285-86, 733 S.E.2d at 599. Both contracts between the corporation and hospital and the corporation and the doctor contained the same arbitration provision. 400 S.C. at 286, 733 S.E.2d at 599. When the doctor sued the corporation and the hospital, the hospital sought to compel him to arbitrate. *Id.* The Court held because the doctor asserted a breach of contract claim and therefore sought damages under the contract between the corporation and hospital, and benefitted from their contract, he could not disclaim the arbitration provision. 400 S.C. at 297, 733 S.E.2d at 605.

Unlike the doctrine in *Pearson*, Respondents Mrs. O'Meara and Mrs. Scheerle have not asserted a breach of contract action, claiming benefits under the Residency Agreements. Indeed, the Respondents did not receive any benefits from the Residency Agreement. Instead, Respondents were abused at the hands of Appellants' employees and Mrs. Scheerle subsequently died. Also, the Respondents, unlike *Pearson*, raised the issue of unconscionability and unfair restriction on procedural and legal rights under the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision in opposition to Appellants' motion to compel arbitration, which issues were ruled upon by the lower court.

The *McCutcheon* case cited by Appellants also involved a breach of contract claim wherein plaintiff invoked the contract as a basis for recovery, and the case is thus distinguishable on that basis alone. In addition, the arbitration provision in *McCutcheon* specified that the transaction involved interstate commerce; that language is, of course, not found in the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision at issue in this appeal. Further, the provisions in the *McCutcheon* contract did not contain the offensive language depriving the resident of basic procedural rights and legally allowable damages, language present in the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision in Mrs. O'Meara and Mrs. Scheerle's Residency Agreements. Also, the plaintiff in *McCutcheon* did not raise public policy/unconscionability concerns to defeat the arbitration provisions.

Appellants' attempt to circumvent, on appeal, the lower court's correct ruling that the Arbitration and Limitation of Liability Provision is unenforceable by asserting equitable estoppel for the first time should be disregarded. Not only did Appellants fail to preserve the argument for appeal, the argument is untimely, and Appellants' use of equitable concepts is misdirected. Appellants cannot invoke equity where Appellants are